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� This webinar is a follow-up to the article written by
Candace Carlyon that appeared in the Winter
2020 ABI Asset Sales Newsletter.

� We will discuss prospects for success in
bankruptcy court, available alternative methods
of affording relief to troubled cannabis
businesses, and possibilities for changes in the
regulatory climate..

� Educational materials do not constitute legal
advice nor create an attorney-client relationship.



An ever evolving list of states and a hot topic with DOJ. 



� Eleven states and the District of 
Columbia have legalized recreational 
marijuana

› Illinois legalized use effective January 1, 2020

� Thirty-three states and the District of 
Columbia have legalized medical 
marijuana



� Cultivators and Dispensaries (28 U.S.C. § 841(a)(1))
› “. . . it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to 

manufacture, distribute, dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, 
distribute or dispense, a controlled substance”

� Ancillary Companies (28 U.S.C. § 843(a)(7))
› “It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to 

manufacture, distribute, export, or import any . . . equipment, chemical, 
product, or material which may be used to manufacture a controlled 
substance . . . knowing, intending, or having reasonable cause to 
believe, that it will be used to manufacture a controlled substance . . .”

� Landlords (21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(1)) 
› “. . . it shall be unlawful to knowingly open, lease, rent, use, or maintain 

any place, whether permanently or temporarily, for the purpose of 
manufacturing, distributing, or using any controlled substance”

� Management (21 U.S.C. § 856(a)(2))
› “. . . it shall be unlawful to manage or control any place, whether 

permanently or temporarily, either as an owner, lessee, agent, employee, 
occupant, or mortgagee, and knowingly and intentionally rent, lease, 
profit from, or make available for use, with or without compensation, the 
place for the purpose of unlawfully manufacturing, storing, distributing, or 
using a controlled substance”



� Focusing on Chapter 11, although similar provisions are applied in 
Chapter 7 and 13 proceedings.

� Courts are concerned with condoning post-confirmation business 
operations that are illegal under federal law

� Courts have dismissed cases under multiple Code provisions:
› § 1112(b)(1) – dismissal for “cause”
› § 1129(a)(3) – plan has to be proposed in “good faith”
› § 1129(a)(11) – plan has to be feasible

� Motions have been brought by Office of United States Trustee and 
other parties in interest
› Involuntary debtors have also moved to dismiss involuntary petitions on 

cannabis grounds
� Chapter 15

› Cross border cases
› § 1506 public policy exception



� Ogden Memorandum (Oct. 2009)
› Prioritizes prosecution over traffickers and disruption of illegal drug 

manufacturing.
› DOJ will not focus resources on individuals acting in compliance 

with state laws
� Cole Memoranda

› First Cole Memorandum (June 2011) clarified that Ogden 
Memorandum was not meant to shield large-scale cultivation 
centers from federal enforcement even if acting in compliance 
with state law.

› Second Cole Memorandum (Aug. 2013) identifies enforcement 
priorities and states that DOJ will rely on state/local governments to 
enact laws relating to cannabis.

› Third Cole Memorandum (Feb. 2014) links violation of Bank Secrecy 
Act and money laundering statutes to the Second Cole 
Memorandum’s enforcement priorities.
� Puts onus on financial institutions to monitor.

› Sessions Memorandum (Jan. 2019) rescinds prior DOJ guidance and 
directs federal prosecutors to weigh all relevant considerations in 
determining cannabis-related prosecutions.

� Attorney General Barr recently said that he would “not go 
after” cannabis companies in states where cannabis is legal.



What is the rationale for denying relief to marijuana related businesses?



� Landlord/Debtor derived approx. 25% of 
lease income from state licensed 
marijuana grow house

� “Whether it is characterized, strictly 
speaking, as an application of the clean 
hands doctrine or simply as part of the 
Court's totality of the circumstances 
“cause” analysis, the Debtor's continued 
criminal activity satisfies the requirement of 
“cause” under § 1112(b) and requires 
dismissal or conversion of this chapter 11 
bankruptcy case.”



� Chapter 7 debtors operated a licensed 
growhouse and leased space to a licensed 
dispensary

� “[S[hort of exposing him to physical harm, 
nothing could be more burdensome to the 
Trustee's administration than requiring him to take 
possession, sell and distribute marijuana Assets in 
violation of federal criminal law. There is no way 
the Trustee could administer the plan without 
committing one or more federal crimes.  Id. at 
852.

� Court held that the debtors could not convert to 
chapter 13, and dismissal was appropriate



� Debtors sold indoor hydroponic and gardening-related 
supplies. 
› Expansion plans were tied to the cannabis industry, although the 

debtors also had customers using the hydroponic products to grow 
other crops. 

� A secured creditor moved to dismiss the cases, citing the 
CSA.

� The Bankruptcy Court found that the debtors were violating 
section 843(a)(7) of the CSA.
› Debtors had reasonable cause to believe that the equipment and 

product they sold would be used, by at least some of their 
customers, to manufacture marijuana.

› The bankruptcy court dismissed the cases “for cause” under section 
1112(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

� District Court affirmed holding:
› A cannabis company cannot, in violation of section 1129(a)(3) of 

the Bankruptcy Code, propose a good-faith reorganization plan 
that relies on profits generated from marijuana.

› The inability to propose a good faith plan is cause for dismissal 
under section 1112(b).



� The District Court questioned the narrow interpretation 
of section 1129(a)(3) given by the Ninth Circuit in 
Garvin. 
› The court ultimately avoided opining on what it means for a 

plan to be “proposed … not by any means forbidden by 
law” by grounding its holding on section 1129(a)(3)’s 
requirement that a plan be “proposed in good faith.”

› Because the plan relied on profits generated by the 
cannabis business, the plan could not be proposed in good 
faith.

� Implications
› Another decision that blocks cannabis companies from 

obtaining bankruptcy relief.
› Second court to take issue with Garvin (first was In re Basrah

Custom Design, Inc., 600 B.R. 368 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 2019)).
› Reminder to the Office of the U.S. Trustee that motions to 

dismiss cannabis cases will be well received by most, if not 
all, of the bankruptcy courts.



� Debtor was a custom cabinet manufacturer, which occupied two 
conjoined buildings.

� The buildings were owned by an affiliate of the Debtor’s principal, 
which entered into a lease with a purchase option with a 
dispensary.

� There was  an issue regarding which entity was the owner or lessor 
of the buildings and the UST moved to dismiss the case “for cause” 
on the basis hat owning or renting a place operating as a 
dispensary violates the CSA.

� Debtor alleged it filed bankruptcy to disentangle itself from the 
cannabis space by rejecting the dispensary lease



� Although the Court found that the lease was not property of the estate
and the Debtor was not the lessor, the Court found that: (a) the sole 
purpose of the filing was to facilitate the principal’s efforts to avoid the 
dispensary lease and (b) the debtor filed bankruptcy with unclean 
hands.

� Court found that cause existed under § 1112(b)(1) to dismiss the case.
� Court speculated that if the dispensary requested stay relief to evict 

the Debtor, the Court would have to refuse because the dispensary 
would also have unclean hands.
› Just as “a federal court cannot be asked to enforce the protections of the Bankruptcy 

Code in aid of a Debtor whose activities constitute a continuing federal crime,” Rent-
Rite, 484 B.R. at 805 (footnote omitted), neither can a federal court be asked to 
enforce any creditor protections under the Bankruptcy Code, such as the relief-from-
stay provisions of II U.S.C. § 362(d), in aid of a creditor’s commission of a federal crime.

� Court also acknowledged that the 1 129(a)(3) good faith issue was not 
before the Court, it nevertheless felt compelled to address Garvin in a 
footnote, stating:
› The decision of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in Garvin is not binding on this Court, 

and, with respect, this Court does not necessarily agree with the Garvin court’s holding 
about § I 129(a)(3). And, respectfully, one might reasonably question whether the 
Garvin court should have refused to decide the § 1112(b) dismissal issue. That refusal, 
on waiver grounds, arguably is questionable, because it allowed the affirmance, by a 
federal court, of the confirmation of a Chapter 11 plan under which a debtor would 
continue to violate federal criminal law under the CSA.



Some indications that automatic dismissal of cases involving entities 
related to marijuana business may not be warranted.



� Debtor was an attorney accused of converting client trust funds.  
The client was a medical marijuana dispensary, and the funds were 
proceeds of sales.

� The bankruptcy court dismissed the complaint seeking to declare 
the debt non-dischargeable, on the basis that the doctrine of 
unclean hands barred Northbay from seeking to recover funds 
which were the proceeds of marijuana sales.  

� The Ninth Circuit held that the doctrine of unclean hands does not 
automatically bar relief, but requires balancing of the alleged 
wrongdoing of each party.  “Had the bankruptcy court weighed 
the parties’ respective wrongdoing, it necessarily would have 
concluded that [the attorney’s] wrongdoing outweighed 
Northbay’s, both as to harm caused to each other and as to harm 
caused to the public.”  789 F.2d at 960.

� Northbay was permitted to bring its action in the bankruptcy court.



� Chief Judge Scot W. Dales considered a Chapter 13 filed by 
a 66-year old facing foreclosure on a residence Debtor had 
owned for four years. 

� Debtor supplemented his Social Security Income by 
providing, under a state law license, medical marijuana to 
three patients and a licensed dispensary.  

� Noting that “[t]he country's relationship with marijuana is 
changing, slowly, and one person’s pusher is another’s 
caregiver”, Judge Dales rejected the U.S. Trustee’s request to 
dismiss the case, provided that the Debtor cease operating 
in the marijuana business.  Recognizing that “[t]he Debtor's 
business is patently incompatible with a bankruptcy 
proceeding, but his financial circumstances are not”, the 
court concluded that the Debtor had to choose between 
continuing the marijuana business and continuing with his 
bankruptcy case.  532 B.R. at 57.



� Debtor was a 92-year-old woman who was legally blind and residing in an assisted 
living facility.  Prepetition, Debtor indirectly owned a shopping center and one of the 
tenants was a state licensed marijuana dispensary. 

� The evidence included the declaration from the Debtor that she wished to end her 
relationship with the tenant and sell the property. 

� The bankruptcy court, finding that the debtor had accepted post-petition lease 
payments from the dispensary, dismissed the case.

� In vacating the dismissal order, the 9th Cir. BAP noted that dismissal should be 
considered pursuant to the statutory framework of the Bankruptcy Code.  The BAP 
stated that dismissal of a case for “cause” under § 1307(c), although not listed, can 
include “bad faith.”  However, the BAP held that such an analysis required both 
consideration of the “totality of the circumstances” and specific findings.  The BAP 
stated that there had been no finding that the trustee would be administering the 
proceeds of an illegal business, and no evidence that the rents were to be used to 
fund the plan. 

� Judge Tighe wrote a separate concurring opinion, stressing the question of whether 
the Debtor had “knowingly and intentionally” violated federal law.  She also stressed 
the importance of performing an analysis of both whether the Debtor was violating 
the Controlled Substances Act, and why the bankruptcy court concluded that 
dismissal was mandatory, stating:  “Bankruptcy courts have historically played a role 
in providing for orderly liquidation of assets, equal payment to creditors, and 
resolution of disputes that otherwise would take many years to resolve. Although 
debtors connected to marijuana distribution cannot expect to violate federal law in 
their bankruptcy case, the presence of marijuana near the case should not cause 
mandatory dismissal.”



� Affirmed confirmation of a chapter 11 plan where the debtor 
derived lease income from a tenant in the business of growing 
marijuana.

� The Ninth Circuit agreed with the bankruptcy court’s analysis 
that § 1129(a)(3)’s requirement that a plan be “proposed in 
good faith, and not by any means forbidden by law” applied 
only to the proposal, and not the terms, of the plan.

� Earlier in the bankruptcy case, the U.S. Trustee had moved to 
dismiss the case of the entity that had leased the property to 
the marijuana grower, based on that debtor’s alleged "gross 
mismanagement of the estate." 

� The Ninth Circuit determined that the U.S. Trustee did not 
properly preserve that argument on appeal.  Accordingly, the 
Ninth Circuit never reached the question of whether leasing 
property to a marijuana grower constitutes “gross 
mismanagement of the estate.”



� Bankruptcy Court concluded that, under the 
particular facts of that case, dismissal was 
warranted, but noted: “There may be cases 
where Chapter 11 relief is appropriate for an 
individual or a non-individual entity directly 
engaged in a marijuana-related business.  For 
the reasons discussed above, this case is not 
one of them.” 

� The court recognized that:  “If there are 8,700 
residents of Nevada employed by the 
marijuana industry, … then the impact of 
automatically denying a bankruptcy fresh start 
to those residents and their dependents would 
be unconscionable.”     



ABC’s; Receiverships; Chapter 15?



� State Court Receiverships
› Creditors and/or shareholders can seek appointment of 

receiver
› Receiver takes control of all property at issue
› Receiver can operate the business and run a sale process
› Certain states allow Receivers to operate a cannabis 

growing/sale business
� Oregon Administrative Rules § 845-025-1260

� “The Commission may issue a temporary authority to operate a 
licensed business to a trustee, the receiver of an insolvent or bankrupt 
licensed business, the personal representative of a deceased licensee, 
or a person holding a security interest in the business for a reasonable 
period of time to allow orderly disposition of the business.”

� Washington Administrative Code § 314-55-137
� Addresses role of receiver when licensee is placed in receivership.

� Assignment for the Benefit of Creditors 
› State law remedy
› Simple procedure – allows for sale of assets
› Licensing issues



� Article 9 Sale
› Available to secured creditors
› Licensing issues



� U.S. Courts recognize and enforce foreign 
insolvency proceedings

� Chapter 15 could be used for to support 
insolvency proceedings instituted outside of 
the U.S. by cannabis companies with affiliates 
or operations in the U.S.

� US Trustee is certain to object
� Arguments in favor of Chapter 15
› Section 1506 – public policy exception

� “Manifestly contrary to the public policy of the United 
States”

› No estate to be administered in the U.S.
� Never been tested



Change on the horizon?



� Introduced by Senators Cory Gardner and 
Elizabeth Warren on April 4, 2019.

� Would amend the Controlled Substances 
Act to recognize legality of marijuana 
where legalized pursuant to state or tribal 
law

� Referred to Committee on the Judiciary 
(4/4/19)

� Companion Bill HR 2093 referred 
to Subcommittee on Crime, Terrorism, and 
Homeland Security (5/15/2019)



� Opens banking and insurance to cannabis 
companies

� Passed the House by a vote of 321-103 on 
Sept. 25, 2019

� Referred to Senate Committee on 
Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs on 
September 26, 2019





THE FOREGOING INFORMATION IS
PROVIDED FOR GENERAL INFORMATION
PURPOSES ONLY AND DOES NOT
CONSTITUTE, AND SHOULD NOT BE
CONSIDERED TO BE, LEGAL ADVICE. NONE
OF THE SPEAKERS, NOR ANY MEMBER OR
EMPLOYEE OF THEIR FIRMS IS RESPONSIBLE
FOR ANY ERRORS OR OMISSIONS IN, OR USE
OF, THESE MATERIALS.


